#### Sarah Lawrence College

## DigitalCommons@SarahLawrence

Dance/Movement Therapy Theses

Dance/Movement Therapy Graduate Program

5-2024

# Boys Don't Cry: Dance/Movement Therapy as Effective Treatment for Men Who Adhere to Traditional Western Masculinity Ideology

Carter Turrell-Celente Sarah Lawrence College

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.slc.edu/dmt\_etd



Part of the Dance Movement Therapy Commons

#### **Recommended Citation**

Turrell-Celente, Carter, "Boys Don't Cry: Dance/Movement Therapy as Effective Treatment for Men Who Adhere to Traditional Western Masculinity Ideology" (2024). Dance/Movement Therapy Theses. 102. https://digitalcommons.slc.edu/dmt\_etd/102

This Thesis - Open Access is brought to you for free and open access by the Dance/Movement Therapy Graduate Program at DigitalCommons@SarahLawrence. It has been accepted for inclusion in Dance/Movement Therapy Theses by an authorized administrator of DigitalCommons@SarahLawrence. For more information, please contact afreitas@sarahlawrence.edu.

# Boys Don't Cry: Dance/Movement Therapy as Effective Treatment for Men Who Adhere to Traditional Western Masculinity Ideology

Carter Turrell-Celente

May 2024

Submitted in partial fulfillment
of the requirements for the degree of
Master of Science in Dance/Movement Therapy
Sarah Lawrence College

#### Abstract

Traditional Western masculinity ideology, which is adhered to mostly by white men (Levant & Pryor, 2020, p. 12), is the dominant construct of masculinity in the United States that influences expectations of behavior among males (American Psychological Association, 2018; Levant & Richmond, 2016). Men who adhere strictly to traditional Western masculinity ideology may find their lives negatively affected by their behavior related to socialized gender norms. Seeking help for mental health challenges goes against traditional Western masculinity ideology, as does emotional expression, which makes these men especially vulnerable to the negative effects of poor mental health. Dance/movement therapy is an effective way to counsel men whose adherence to traditional Western masculinity ideology leads to mental health problems because of its use of nonverbal communication; its emphasis on increasing emotional awareness; its humanistic, strength-based approach; its ability to enhance an individual's self-compassion; and its efficacy as a group therapy modality.

*Keywords:* traditional Western masculinity ideology, gender norms, mental health, dance/movement therapy

### **Table of Contents**

Traditional Western Masculinity Ideology	5
Perceived Threat to Traditional Masculinity	8
Adherence to Traditional Western Masculinity Ideology May Be Harmful	11
Help-Seeking Behaviors	16
Therapy With Men	20
Dance/Movement Therapy	28
Western Dualism	32
Gender in Dance/Movement Therapy	33
Potential Resistance to Dance/Movement Therapy	36
Effectiveness of Dance/Movement Therapy	38
Dance/Movement Therapy Interventions	40
References	47

#### Acknowledgements

With my deepest gratitude:

To my sons Spencer and Elroy - For your love, support, patience, and understanding. May you always feel you can be your true self.

To my husband Jason - For your boundless love and endless support.

To my cheerleaders Lynya, Tash, my stepdad Joe, and especially my mom Susan - For always believing in me and reminding me to believe in myself.

To my parents-in-law Noreen and Bob - For always being there for my boys.

To my professors - For your guidance and support and for opening this world to me.

To my cohort, the Sarah Lawrence College Dance/Movement Therapy Class of 2024 - You are an amazing group of intelligent, kind, sensitive, caring humans, and the field is incredibly lucky to have you.

#### **Traditional Western Masculinity Ideology**

Gender is a social construct, defined by a set of norms determining characteristics, behaviors and expressions expected of an individual based on their sex traits, that is passed down generationally through socialization via the observation of and instruction by parents, peers, and the media (National Academies of Sciences, Engineering & Medicine, 2020; Berke et al., 2017). Gender expectations are often thrust upon individuals even before birth, with, for example, blue for a boy and pink for a girl assigned to an as yet unborn child. Children and adolescents learn what society expects of them, based on their gender, not only by being instructed directly on how to behave but also by observing how others of their gender act and by witnessing the responses of others to certain behaviors (Berke et al., 2017). For instance, a boy who sees another boy being bullied for "acting gay" learns that certain behavior will result in bullying and that being "gay" is unacceptable (Addis & Hoffman, 2020). Social punishment and avoidance learning influence children to adopt societally prescribed gendered behavior (Addis & Hoffman, 2020). The daily, public performance of gender norms provides continuous validation of gender-specific conduct and expression (Bola, 2019).

While today in the United States, gender roles are more fluid than ever, and there are multiple ways a man might express his masculinity, traditional Western masculinity ideology, which is adhered to mostly by white men (Levant & Pryor, 2020, p. 12), is the dominant construct of masculinity in the United States that influences expectations of behavior among males (American Psychological Association, 2018; Levant & Richmond, 2016). According to socialized gender norms, a traditionally masculine man is both physically and emotionally strong; tough; daring; and does not show weakness or pain (Shepard & Rabinowitz, 2013; Levant & Pryor, 2020, Thompson & Pleck, 1986). He values status and power and commands

the respect of others (Shepard & Rabinowitz, 2013; Levant & Pryor, 2020, Thompson & Pleck, 1986). He is the breadwinner of his family, and he is always ready for sex (Levant & Pryor, 2020). He understands violence and aggressive behavior as expressive of masculinity, and he rejects any activities considered "feminine" (Levant, 2022; Shepard & Rabinowitz, 2013; Levant & Pryor, 2020, Thompson & Pleck, 1986). He does not perceive showing emotions related to vulnerability or caring to be "masculine." He was taught as a boy not to cry, and his father was more likely to respond to his expressions of anger than to his expressions of sadness or anxiety, because aggression is viewed masculine, while vulnerability is not (Mahalik et al., 2003; Addis & Hoffman, 2020).

Several measures of masculinity exist in psychology research. In fact, a 2015 review of psychological research concluded that 16 distinct measures were used in empirical research between 1995 and 2013 (Thompson & Bennett, 2015). These measures provide an overview of the traditional Western masculinity ideology norms and can be used in research to gain an understanding of the extent to which adherence to masculinity norms may affect men. One of those measures, the Male Role Norms Inventory (MRNI), identifies beliefs such as "avoidance of femininity;" "negativity toward sexual minorities," "self-reliance," "aggression," "dominance," "non-relational sexuality," and "restrictive emotionality" (Levant, 2011). The Conformity to Masculine Norms Inventory (CMNI) measures actions a man takes to conform to masculine norms (Levant, 2011). Eleven factors make up the CMNI, including "winning;" "emotional control;" "risk-taking;" "violence;" "power over women;" "dominance;" "playboy;" "self-reliance;" "primacy of work;" "disdain for homosexuals;" and "pursuit of status" (Levant et al., 2010). In their description of the development of the CMNI scale, Mahalik et al. (2003) described the process of the naming of masculinity norms, which included a literature review of

traditional U.S. masculine norms followed by focus groups whose task was to discuss the relevance of the norms named. While no detailed descriptions of the norms are provided in the description of the development of the CMNI scale, empirical data showing the correlation of the norms identified for the CMNI with norms described in other masculinity measures provide a more robust explanation of the CMNI norms. "Risk-taking" is described as behavior such as involvement with violence, and smoking and drinking to excess (Mahalik et al., 2003, p. 13). "Winning" refers to "wanting to be admired and respected, successful/powerful/competitive, performing competently, and being physically adequate" (Mahalik et al., 2003, p. 14). "Emotional control" reflects the restriction of emotions. "Playboy" is related to antifemininity, violence and adventure, and concealing emotions (Mahalik et al., 2003, p.16). While the MRNI considers an individual's endorsement or approval of masculinity norms, the CMNI places the focus on how the individual feels about his own behavior as it relates to masculinity norms (Thompson & Bennett, 2015).

Why this traditional set of behavioral expectations continues to be prevalent in U.S. society is perhaps because it is necessary to maintain the patriarchal status quo of power (Levant, 2011), as the characteristics that define traditional Western masculinity ideology are those that position a man in a place of power. Assumed to be beneficial to men, patriarchy, when it comes to gender expression, may, in fact, harm men in some ways because of the pressure it places on them to conform to traditional norms of masculinity, including toughness, emotional restrictiveness, self-reliance, and dominance, all of which have potential to negatively impact their mental health and their relationships (Levant & Pryor, 2020; Heilman et al., 2017). Men may engage in avoidance behaviors and emotional suppression to align with traditional Western masculinity ideology (Berke et al., 2018). Even if an adult male today eschews masculine norms,

he may struggle with his rejection of the norms that were taught to him as a boy (Levant & Richmond, 2016).

Kivel assigned an image to the restrictions a man who adheres to traditional Western masculinity ideology lives by, calling it the "act like a man box" (Heilman et al., 2017). Individuals who live in the "man box" feel trapped by the rigid parameters of expected behavior (Heilman et al., 2017). Levant and Pryor described boys and men as being "imprisoned by masculinity" because adhering to masculine norms is "obligatory" at some point in their lives (Levant & Pryor, 2020, p. 2). This imagery associated with the socialization of male gender roles presented by Kivel, Levant, and Pryor is descriptive of an oppressive experience.

#### **Perceived Threat to Traditional Masculinity**

Traditional Western masculinity ideology has received attention in recent years. The way individuals present themselves vis a vis their gender has become more fluid, moving away from traditional binary definitions. Male gender roles have shifted, with heterosexual men expected to behave in ways that are counter to traditional masculinity norms, such as engaging more in childcare, sharing housework, and expressing emotions, all behavior traditionally considered "feminine" (Levant, 2011). Some argue that this shift has caused confusion among men who were socialized to adhere to traditional Western masculinity ideology norms (Levant, 2011). Perhaps the blurring of what it means to be male or female leaves some heterosexual men without a clear idea of what masculinity is. While the feminist movement provided a framework of sorts to help girls realize their shifting gender roles, no such equivalent assistance has been provided to boys to help them understand and process the socialization of masculinity they have experienced and to assist them in the landscape of shifting gender norms (Levant & Pryor, 2020). Looking for direction on how to be a man, some individuals turn to sources that promote an

ideology of traditional masculinity because it is familiar and puts them in a place of power, despite the empirical evidence indicating that adherence to traditional male ideology may harm a man's health.

Partly in response to what has been perceived as an attack on traditional masculinity, male-targeted media featuring "hypermasculine" personalities who promote themselves as life coaches and image consultants and who preach misogyny, sexism, and dominance, under the guise of self-help, has emerged (Addis & Hoffman, 2020; Willingham, 2022; Onibada, 2022). An online network of websites, called the "manosphere," connects several misogynistic communities, including that of Andrew Tate, a so-called "toxic male influencer" who describes himself as a misogynist who seeks to "free the modern man from socially induced incarceration" (Institute for Strategic Dialogue, n.d.; Heilman et al., 2017; Ewens, 2023). Tate, who rejects anything that is "feminine," has millions of followers, despite being banned from social media platforms such as Instagram, Facebook, and YouTube for posting what is considered hate speech (Das, 2022; Onibada, 2022). Tate tells men that despite what society seems to be telling them, they are not the problem (Heilman et al., 2017). Another source for "self-improvement" tips for men, the Fresh & Fit podcast is described as bringing the "truth to men on females, finances, and fitness." Its hosts, dating coach Walter Weekes ("fresh") and fitness coach Myron Gaines ("fit"), tell men, among other things, that promiscuity is natural for males, but that females should be monogamous; and they warn listeners that women will try to trick them into giving them money (YouTube, n.d.; Heilman et al., 2017). Tate, the Fresh & Fit podcast, and others feed the beast that is "toxic masculinity," a term that implies that there are aspects of masculinity that are harmful to individuals and to society (Vallie, 2022).

It is not just in the "manosphere" that hypermasculinity is touted to the detriment of other populations, as witnessed during the presidential campaign of 2016 when President Donald Trump used the "boys will be boys," "locker room talk" excuse for making a crass, sexually charged statement referring to doing "whatever [he] want[ed]" to women, including an act of sexual harassment (Miller, 2016; *The New York Times*, 2016). To so publicly dismiss such a statement and to be spared social punishment, to even ultimately be rewarded, is evidence, it could be argued, that traditional Western masculinity is prevalent and can be used to provide permission to some men to act in their own interest while marginalizing others. A recent study looked at men's and women's endorsement of traditional Western masculinity ideology following the 2016 presidential election and found that those who endorsed this ideology were more likely to vote for Donald Trump (Vescio & Schermerhorn, 2021).

In recent years, the political landscape has been ripe with debate over masculinity, as some individuals on the political right blame the left's criticism of traditional masculinity as "toxic" and its negation of the traditional, patriarchal family structure for the economic and mental health-related struggles of men today (Miller, 2023). For instance, in a 2021 speech, former North Carolina representative Madison Cawthorn said society is trying to "demasculate" young men (Sarkar, 2021). Josh Hawley, the Republican United States Senator of Missouri, in his 2021 National Conservatism keynote speech, claimed that the political left perceives America as a "dystopia" (Hawley, 2021) that needs to be "deconstruct[ed]" (Hawley, 2021) via "the deconstruction of American men" (Hawley, 2021). He argued that the left views traditional masculinity as "toxic" (Hawley, 2021) and considers the traditionally masculine traits of "courage and independence and assertiveness" (Hawley, 2021) as "a danger to society" (Hawley, 2021). To bolster his argument, Hawley provided examples of the takedown of men, including a

representative of the government linking white suppression to patriarchy; an author equating "healthy masculinity" to "healthy cancer;" higher education curricula criticizing masculinity; West Point Military Academy educating cadets about "toxic masculinity;" and the media promoting a message critical of traditional masculinity (Hawley, 2021). Hawley's solution to the problem is to hearken back to the past when gender differences were strict. In a May 2023 POLITICO Magazine/IPSOS poll, which surveyed Republicans and Democrats, most respondents, no matter their political affiliation, agreed that in the United States there is confusion about what masculinity is and that a more positive view of masculinity is needed (Fossett, 2023). Many more Republican respondents than Democratic respondents agreed with the statement, "The Democratic Party is hostile to masculine values" (Fossett, 2023). In the 2022 American Values Survey, 68% of Republicans, compared to 19% of Democrats and 44% of Independents, said the United States has become "too soft and feminine" (Public Religion Research Institute, 2022). While the debate over masculinity's virtues continues in the political arena and in greater society, it remains evident that men in the United States are struggling not only in economic terms but also with regards to their physical and mental health (Haidt, 2023).

#### Adherence to Traditional Western Masculinity Ideology May Be Harmful

More men engage in unhealthy behaviors, aggression, and suicide than women.

According to the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, men are four times more likely to die by suicide than women (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2023). Men account for 79% of suicides in the United States (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2023). Suicide rates are higher in rural areas, due to less access to health insurance; more access to firearms; more veterans as residents; higher economic-related problems, and a lack of social connectedness (American Institute for Boys and Men, 2023). Men over the age of 65 are also at

higher risk of dying by suicide (Reeves & Secker, 2023). The Bureau of Justice Statistics in the United States Department of Justice reported that in 2020, 79% of violent crime offenders (rape or sexual assault, robbery, aggravated assault, and simple assault) were male (Morgan & Thompson, 2022). Twenty-one percent of men engage in binge drinking, compared to 13% of women (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2022). Seventy-one percent of opioid deaths are among men (American Institute for Boys and Men, 2023; Kaiser Family Foundation, 2021). While adherence to traditional masculinity ideology is not necessarily directly correlated to these statistics, it is evident that being male may be hazardous to one's health.

Men who adhere to traditional Western masculinity ideology are more likely to experience gender role conflict (Addis & Hoffman, 2020). Gender role conflict occurs when gender role norms are restrictive, and when the move away from or conformity to gender role norms by an individual has negative consequences for that person, such as in the form of selfcriticism, or for those around him, if the individual engages in behaviors such as stereotyping; homophobia; racial bias; aggression, violence, and abuse towards others; or criticism of a spouse (Levant, 2011; O'Neil, 2012). Contributing to gender role conflict in men is a "fear of femininity;" "restrictive emotionality;" restriction of affectionate behavior with other men; a focus on success and power; and an emphasis on work over family (O'Neil, 2012). Experiencing gender role conflict can lead to issues in forming and maintaining relationships with others as well as psychological issues, such as depression, anxiety, stress, low self-esteem, and engagement in self-destructive behaviors, such as substance use and risk-taking (Addis & Hoffman, 2020; O'Neil, 2012). In fact, restrictive emotionality is most predictive of depression in men (Levant & Pryor, 2020). Adherence to masculine norms is not necessarily what contributes to these negative consequences; it is more the *strict* adherence to these norms that

leads to gender role conflict (Cole et al., 2019). In fact, adhering to some masculine norms, such as risk-taking, courage, and self-reliance, may be beneficial to men (Cole et al., 2019).

Pleck's (1995) gender role strain paradigm describes the way in which individuals who fail to act within the socially constructed gender roles experience negative psychological and social consequences (Levant & Richmond, 2016). In short, men are taught that they need to prove their manhood, and the threat of negative social consequences if one does not behave according to masculinity norms reinforces the need to conform (Pleck, 1995; Berke et al., 2018). Pleck specified two types of strain that occur related to gender roles: discrepancy strain, when one fails to live up to one's own ideal of manhood, leading to low self-esteem; and dysfunction strain, when masculinity norms are fulfilled, but there are negative effects on the individual and those around him (Levant & Richmond, 2016; Levant, 2011). For example, a boy who is raised to adhere to traditional masculinity norms may limit his emotional expression, thus leading, in adulthood perhaps, to normative male alexithymia, the condition among men of being unable to verbally describe emotional experiences (Levant & Richmond, 2016).

Alexithymia means "without words for emotions" (Levant et al., 2014). Originally used to describe psychiatric patients who were unable to identify and describe their emotions, Levant noticed a variation of the concept in nonclinical men who had been socialized not to express emotions related to vulnerability and caring (Levant et al., 2006; Levant, 2014). Levant called this variation "normative male alexithymia" to describe what occurs in men who lack a bodily felt sense of their emotions (Levant et al., 2006). Levant's research found that emotional suppression was the behavior that predicted alexithymia in these men (Levant et al., 2014). Levant proposed that men with normative male alexithymia face higher mortality rates due to the increased health risks associated with not expressing emotion (Levant, 2006, p. 213). A six-

session psychoeducational group intervention was found to be effective in reducing normative male alexithymia in men and decreasing their endorsement of traditional masculinity ideology (Levant et al., 2009). Areas of focus included recognizing their own socialization; developing the words to describe emotions; recognizing when others express emotions; and writing about their feelings (Levant et al., 2009).

Several studies have investigated how adherence to certain norms of traditional masculinity norms may harm the well-being of men (Levant & Pryor, 2020). A 2020 study found that adherence to traditional Western masculinity ideology may bring about self-stigma when it comes to mental health problems, as those who adhere to traditional Western masculinity ideology are likely to feel negatively about being depressed because they have failed to live up to masculinity norms and to feel shame when receiving a mental illness diagnosis (Jampel et al., 2020). Using the Measure of Men's Perceived Inexpressiveness Norms (M2PIN), which considers men's engagement with social norms specifically related to control of emotions (Thompson & Bennett, 2015), Wong et al. found that college-aged male participants, who were mostly white, were less likely to seek help for mental health issues if they thought that other men in their lives, especially their peers, were not emotionally expressive (Wong et al., 2013). A 2020 study found that a higher endorsement of masculine toughness was associated with more substance use and less help-seeking, especially for depression (Sileo & Kershaw, 2020). Gender role discrepancy may lead to a decrease in health-related behaviors such as maintaining healthy relationships and managing stress, especially among those who endorse traditional masculine norms, according to a 2022 study (Mesler et al., 2022).

A 2019 study found that adherence to the masculinity norms of being dominant over others, having multiple sexual partners, and being emotionally restrictive were negatively

associated with well-being (Kaya et al., 2019). Some norms were found to be protective. The focus on winning was linked with the avoidance of substance use. Making work primary focus was linked to preventative self-care. Maintaining control over emotions and a primary focus on work was linked with avoidance of anger and stress (Levant & Pryor, 2020). Overall, however, the study's authors concluded that adherence to traditional masculinity ideology tends to be more harmful than protective (Levant & Pryor, 2020).

The first study to show a relationship between masculine norms, particularly the "toughness" norm, and thought suppression found that men who drink heavily and who adhere to traditional masculinity norms inhibit unwanted thoughts, the act of which is linked to aggression (Berke et al., 2020). Thus, the promotion of toughness may increase the likelihood that men who adhere to traditional masculinity ideology and who drink heavily may exhibit aggression when they suppress their thoughts (Berke et al., 2020).

The concept of precarious manhood, that manhood is "earned" with much effort, "must be demonstrated" publicly, and "can easily be lost" (Bosson & Vandello, 2011, p. 82), is perhaps a significant factor in why males exhibit aggressive behavior and violence; they act to show their masculinity. Research on precarious manhood beliefs in 62 countries found that in those countries where the belief in precarious manhood is higher, men had higher rates of engaging in risky behavior, such as smoking; poorer health related to risk-taking, such as drownings and liver disease; and lower life expectancy (Vandello et al., 2023). Belief in precarious manhood may lead to higher stress levels in men, thus ultimately leading to poor health due to the effects of elevated stress hormones in the body (Himmelstein et al., 2019). Reducing the belief that men must strictly adhere to traditional Western masculinity norms may ultimately protect them (Himmelstein et al., 2019).

When manhood is threatened, public displays of physical aggression by men may be enacted to restore masculinity in the eyes of others and of the self. Two studies looked at men's public reactions after engaging in an activity deemed feminine, namely, braiding hair. In one study, after male participants were told to braid hair on a mannequin, they were given a choice of doing a puzzle or doing an aggressive boxing game. Most chose the boxing game. In another study, one group of male participants was randomly assigned the task of braiding hair, while another group was assigned to the task of reinforcing rope. Following the completion of their tasks, the men were told they could hit a punching bag. Compared to the male participants who reinforced rope, those who braided hair hit the bag harder (Bosson et al., 2009). The presumption is that the men who engaged in the "feminine" activity felt the need afterwards to display their masculinity. Still another study by the same authors found that such public displays of masculine behavior (playing the boxing game, hitting the bag) provided regulation in the body following the anxiety caused by the threat to manhood (Bosson et al., 2009).

#### **Help-Seeking Behaviors**

Masculine norms conformity causes some men who adhere to traditional Western masculinity ideology to avoid seeking help. Perceived social stigma; self-stigma, the belief held by a man that he is weak for seeking help; and the avoidance of self-disclosure of emotions and vulnerability, based on the stereotyped images these men hold of how they are supposed to behave, dissuade help-seeking in these men (Vogel & Heath, 2016). The risk of seeking help is too high (Vogel & Heath, 2016). Seeking help for mental health issues means relying on someone else and admitting to having a problem that involves feelings, both of which go against the socialized norms of "self-reliance," "toughness," "dominance," and "emotional restriction" (Addis & Mahalik, 2003). Men are also less likely to seek help if they perceive their issue as

being a central aspect of them; seeking help for the problem threatens self-esteem (Addis & Mahalik, 2003, p. 10). Gender role strain, or the perception that one must live up to societal gender norms, may cause psychological stress which requires help-seeking; but seeking help may cause a feeling of gender role discrepancy strain for failing to live up to perceived masculinity norms.

Men socialized to adhere to traditional masculinity norms may feel shame when experiencing depression, which affects their ability to receive counseling help; both being depressed and seeking help for depression are seen as signs of weakness (Shepard & Rabinowitz, 2013). The experience of shame is both cognitive, with self-deprecating thoughts, and emotional, with anger towards the self, along with a feeling of being inferior to others (Shepard & Rabinowitz, 2013). This internal self-perception of being inferior is also experienced externally, the man having the idea that if he sees himself as deficient, then others will as well (Shepard & Rabinowitz, 2013). This attack on the self about being depressed may exacerbate the depression (Shepard & Rabinowitz, 2013). Shame may also arise for a man when he does seek help, because he was not able to solve his problem himself (Shepard & Rabinowitz, 2013).

Empirical research confirms that men who adhere to traditional Western masculinity ideology are less likely to seek mental health help. A 2018 study found that self-reliance, emotional control, and the desire to seem to be in power among their peers are reasons college-aged males who conform to traditional masculine norms avoid seeking help for mental health issues (McDermott et al., 2018). Cole and Ingram found that self-stigma and the experience of gender role conflict increased engagement in avoidant behaviors, such as distraction, self-medication, and waiting for the feeling to pass, among men who were depressed, rather than help-seeking from professionals or from friends and family (Cole & Ingram, 2020). The authors

of the study suspect this avoidant behavior is the reason there is a higher rate of substance use disorder among men with depression (Cole & Ingram, 2020).

When men in a 2022 study were exposed to ads featuring masculine imagery and then to textual scenes of one man seeking mental health assistance and another seeking physical health help, the man in the scenario seeking help for his mental health was judged as less masculine than the man seeking help for his physical health (Li, 2022). In a second study, participants were shown the same ads with masculine imagery, then were asked about societal expectations of men (Li, 2022). Participants expressed attitudes against societal expectations of men and against the idea that men must conform to societal standards (Li, 2022). The result of this study perhaps indicates that providing the opportunity for reflection on socialized gender norms may empower men to behave contrary to expectation. Relatedly, depictions in the media of men acting counter to traditional masculinity ideology may also encourage men to leave behind their restrictive norms (Levant & Pryor, 2022).

A 2017 study investigated what a threat to masculinity does to gender role discrepancy. Male participants were given a test that evaluated their gender knowledge, and participants in the threat condition group were given a fake score that was closer on a scale to "feminine gender identity" than to "masculine gender identity," thus instigating perhaps a higher level of gender role discrepancy (Berke et al., 2017). In a subsequent test, the men in the threat condition group exhibited behaviors associated with aggression as well as higher pain tolerance, perhaps, according to the study authors, to publicly show their masculinity (Berke et al., 2017). The men in the threat condition group did not, however, show behaviors related to anxiety, because, the authors suspect, anxiety is considered a vulnerable emotion, and gender norms dictate that men cannot show emotion related to vulnerability (Berke et al., 2017).

Cole and Davidson's (2018) study compared how men perceive other men with traditional symptoms of depression; men with no depression; men with symptoms of male-type depression (social withdrawal, pain denial, help avoidance, and self-criticism); and men with symptoms of externalizing behavior (such as anger, impulse control issues, aggression, avoidant behaviors, and risk-taking). They found that men with traditional symptoms of depression were considered by other men to be less masculine and more feminine than the men exhibiting other symptoms or no symptoms (Cole & Davidson, 2018). In the study, men were shown vignettes of fictional men with the various types of depression. Men shown externalizing behaviors of depression, such as a high temper, increased substance use, and fighting, were perceived by participants as not losing their masculinity (Cole & Davidson, 2018).

In a 2022 study, barriers to help-seeking in college-aged men, with no indication of the extent to which they adhered to traditional Western masculinity ideology, included social stigma, self-stigma, and their need to seem strong and able to solve their own problems (DeBate et al., 2022). Self-reliance, emotional control, and the desire to seem to be in power among their peers were reasons college-aged males who conformed to traditional masculine norms avoided seeking help, according to research (McDermott et al., 2018).

A study involving interviews of working-class men regarding their help-seeking when sad or depressed revealed that stigma, expectations about masculinity, and a perceived threat to manhood influenced their help-seeking behaviors (Mahalik & Dagirmanjiam, 2019). Seeking help was considered weak and feminine (Mahalik & Dagirmanjiam, 2019).

A 2018 study found that college-aged men were more likely to adhere to societal norms of masculinity and were less likely to seek help because of stigma (Wasylkiw & Clairo, 2018). However, the participants who were involved in sports, it was discovered, had higher rates of

self-compassion than those not involved in sports (Wasylkiw & Clairo, 2018). This self-compassion, that is, having compassion for oneself as one would have for a friend, led to an increase in help-seeking (Wasylkiw & Clairo, 2018). The authors speculate that the higher rates of self-compassion in college athletes were due to the group cohesion of their sports teams; the team members were a community sharing mutual feelings regarding winning and losing games (Wasylkiw & Clairo, 2018).

Self-compassion may be an effective way for improving help-seeking behavior in men who adhere to traditional Western masculinity ideology (Wasylkiw & Clairo, 2018). Those with self-compassion understand that everyone experiences difficulties; that one must be kind and forgiving to oneself; and that it is important not to suppress or exaggerate thoughts and feelings (Reilly et al., 2014; Neff et al., 2007). Self-compassion differs from self-esteem in that the latter involves self-evaluation and comparison to others (Reilly et al., 2014; Neff et al., 2007). Research on self-compassion has found that it may protect against anxiety from self-evaluation and may lead to decreased self-criticism and thought suppression (Neff et al., 2007).

#### **Therapy With Men**

When the American Psychological Association (APA) *Guidelines for Psychological*Practice with Boys and Men was released in 2018, a significant amount of media attention

followed (Ferguson, 2023). Criticism of masculinity in the *Guidelines* was seen as a criticism of

men (Addis & Hoffman, 2020). A press release in a publication from the APA summarized the *Guidelines*, saying, "APA has issued its first-ever guidelines for practice with men and boys.

They draw on more than 40 years of research showing that traditional masculinity is

psychologically harmful and that socializing boys to suppress their emotions causes damage"

(Pappas, 2019). In the press release, patriarchal society's socialization was blamed for

influencing the harmful traditional masculinity values of "stoicism, competitiveness, dominance, and aggression" (Pappas, 2019).

The Guidelines include empirical evidence of how traditional masculinity ideology may be harmful to men, leading to higher suicide rates, lower life expectancy, and higher likelihood of being involved in homicides (Pappas, 2019). Specific recommendations in the Guidelines include helping a male client explore and understand how adherence to traditional gender norms affects his relationships and his possible sexism; promoting healthy family relationships, especially father involvement; and guiding men to engage in more help-seeking behaviors (APA, 2018). Strength-based, all-male therapy groups to promote relationships and support among boys while helping them explore behavior norms; specific education about how masculine norms are restrictive; and encouragement to develop healthy behaviors are touted as effective (APA, 2018). Other recommendations include providing services that are tailored to men, such as taking into consideration that emphasizing language related to feelings and vulnerability may be ineffective with men who are resistant to seeking help, because it makes them seem weak (APA, 2018), and holding shorter sessions, featuring self-disclosure and humor by the therapist, in informal settings (APA, 2018; Englar-Carlson, 2014; Duffey & Haberstroh, 2014). The APA warns clinicians that presentation of symptoms of depression may not be traditional and to watch for avoidance responses, aggression, irritability, compulsive behavior, concentration difficulties, and complaints related to the body (APA, 2018, p. 15).

Ferguson, a critic of the *Guidelines*, accused the APA of constructing the *Guidelines* based on "left-leaning," feminist principles of "identity politics, patriarchy, privilege, and other loadstone jargon" (Ferguson, 2022) and ultimately, by criticizing masculine values, of being "disparaging of traditional men and their families," thus discouraging these individuals from

seeking mental health assistance (Ferguson, 2022). He wrote, "...I am highly skeptical that the partially unemployed coal miner, struggling to feed his family of five, is going to benefit much from discussions of his privilege" (Ferguson, 2022). Ferguson's criticisms of the APA Guidelines were many, including the presentation of a stereotyped description of masculinity; the failure to emphasize the positive characteristics of traditional masculinity; the lack of acknowledgement of the biological factors that influence masculinity; and the claim that men are unaware of the social forces that influence their behavior (Ferguson, 2023). Ultimately, Ferguson argued, the APA approached men with a liberal bias and should have consulted the very population of individuals it focused on, to understand the perspective of men who adhere to traditional Western masculinity ideology (Ferguson, 2023). According to Ferguson, the APA described traditional masculinity as being comprised of negative constructs such as homophobia and violent behavior but also criticized the characteristics of stoicism and "achievement orientation" as being detrimental to men, when, in fact, they might be beneficial (Ferguson, 2023, p. 3). Reeves wrote in his book Of Boys and Men his own criticism of the Guidelines, pointing out that the APA did not consider the biological factors that affect men's behavior and, similar to Ferguson's critique, noted a lack of focus by the APA on any positive aspects of masculinity (Reeves, 2024).

In response to Ferguson's criticism specifically, the editors of the APA *Guidelines* stressed that they were not, as Ferguson wrote, "waging a war on men and boys," in particular "traditional men," but were instead attacking the masculine role norms, which are rigid and restrictive (Levant et al., 2023). Men and boys, they said, are socialized to believe in these norms, and the consequences are sometimes detrimental (Levant et al., 2023).

While the APA's Guidelines focus on negative characteristics of male behavior, positive psychology/positive masculinity (PPPM) is a strength-based approach to counseling men, that responds to gender role strain and gender role conflict that many men experience (Kiselica et al., 2016). PPPM rejects the idea that masculinity is problematic and that males are "dysfunctional, damaged, and emotionally disengaged victims of flawed development" (Kiselica et al., 2016, p. 125) and instead focuses on men's potential to improve themselves and to contribute to society (Englar-Carlson & Kiselica, 2013). PPPM focuses on several characteristics of masculinity that are healthy and adaptive strengths, or what Kiselica et al. refer to as the "noble aspects of masculinity" (Kiselica et al., 2016, p. 124): men's focus on caring for others; generative fatherhood, or the passing down of attentive fathering; self-reliance; being a worker-provider; respect for women; courage and risk-taking, especially to protect others and push the self to achieve; group strength to achieve a common purpose; forms of service, such as male community organizations; use of humor; and heroism (Kiselica et al., 2016, p. 125). This focus on the positive aspects of masculinity, coupled with positive psychology, which emphasizes positive emotion, engagement, relationships, meaning, and achievement (PERMA) results in an approach to psychological treatment of men that raises them up rather than criticizing them (Kiselica et al., 2016).

PPPM taps into the masculinity norm of showing strength by promoting the decision to seek help as a sign of strength and courage, not weakness, and stressing that caring for himself places him in a better position to care for others (Kiselica & Englar-Carlson, 2010; Englar-Carlson & Kiselica, 2013). The approach does not assume male clients are incapable of emotional expression, and it uses mutuality to convey to male clients that they are not alone in their gender role conflict (Kiselica & Englar-Carlson, 2010). The PPPM approach recommends

that psychologists make men active and collaborative participants in their therapy to tap into their desire to feel as if they are in control of their own recovery (Englar-Carlson, 2014). Malefriendly practices recommended include the use of humor, self-disclosure, informality; different labels for therapy, such as consulting, coaching, or workshop; and offering an active approach (Mahalik et al., 2012; Englar-Carlson, 2014).

Criticism of PPPM rests in the concern that placing attention on men and empowering them in this way seems counter to the efforts made to lessen the power of the patriarchy, and that assigning specific characteristics to a particular gender, when they are, in fact, human, not male, strengths and capacities, is essentialist (Englar-Carlson & Kiselica, 2013). Englar-Carlson and Kiselica argue against this idea, however, noting that the aspects of focus in PPPM are not biologically based (Englar-Carlson & Kiselica, 2013). Another criticism is that PPPM assumes that masculinity is the same for everyone and does not consider differences that arise based on context (Addis & Hoffman, 2020). Additionally, by focusing on certain characteristics of men as being strengths with which to work, PPPM may make those men who do not exhibit those particular aspects of masculinity feel inferior (Addis & Hoffman, 2020). Another criticism is that PPPM does not recognize the harm masculinity causes and that it must be made less essential to a man's identity, for instance, by helping him understand who he was when he was socialized to masculinity compared to who he is now (Wolfe & Levant, 2020).

Socialized male gender norms may affect how men who adhere to traditional Western masculinity ideology engage with therapy. Assessment that seeks to understand the extent to which he adheres to masculine norms and experiences gender role conflict and self-stigma is important, as this information may inform the language the therapist uses and provide context for the client's behavior (Strokoff et al., 2016; Cole et al., 2019; Duffey & Haberstroh, 2014).

Internal stigma, the desire to avoid engaging in any behavior considered "feminine," and a need to maintain control may make these men reluctant to share their emotions (Strokoff et al., 2016). Whether engaging male clients on an individual level or in a group setting, counselors must be aware that disclosure of feelings for men who have been socialized to restrict their emotions may be particularly difficult and should be approached gradually (Mahalik et al., 2012; Englar-Carlson, 2014).

Ironically, although many men have been socialized in groups for almost all their lives, from school to sports teams, those who adhere to traditional Western masculinity ideology tend to be self-reliant, competitive, and avoidant of intimacy with others, so they may be resistant to group therapy (Rabinowitz, 2014). However, group therapy may be especially effective for men who adhere to traditional Western masculinity ideology because of the key therapeutic factor of universality, the recognition that one is not alone in one's struggles and concerns, which helps to reduce feelings of shame and self-stigma (Yalom, 2020; Rabinowitz, 2014; Englar-Carlson & Kiselica, 2013). A study found that men who viewed a "male-sensitive storytelling video" about a man with depression, reduced the self-stigma they experienced related to help-seeking, indicating that all-male group therapy, where men can share their similar stories, may be particularly effective (Keum & Ogrodniczuk, 2022). A group setting, if perceived as safe and supportive, may also allow for a corrective emotional experience in which an individual "tries out" verbalizing or doing something that feels shameful or that he expects negative consequences to come from, only to find no major consequences occur (Yalom, 2020). Group exercises that emphasize nonverbal interaction, creating rhythm, role play, physical activity, and guided imagery would most likely engage these men in their group therapy experience (Rabinowitz, 2014). Potential themes that might be effective in group therapy with men include how they

define masculinity; how their behavior in public may differ from their behavior in private; their potential feelings of self-stigma and shame when they behave contrary to traditional masculinity norms; and the mind-body connection (Rabinowitz, 2014).

Rather than focusing on what men are doing wrong, which may result in defensiveness, one approach to helping men recognize their strengths is to have them imagine "possible masculinities," meaning their ideal masculine self, compared to the real masculine self, and the future goals for behaviors and identities they want to take on to be the kind of man they want to be (Davies et al., 2010). Emphasized is the idea that men have the power to make changes to move themselves towards their ideal self (Kumar et al., 2023). The issue is that often, the various masculinity options are not apparent to many men (Levant & Pryor, 2020).

The Men's Center approach to counseling men focuses on this possible masculinities model, helping men set goals for the person they want to be in the future to contribute positively to society, focusing on their strengths and healthy behaviors (Shen-Miller et al., 2019). The Men's Center approach's goals include increasing men's emotional expression; reducing the shame associated with help-seeking; and helping men to understand how their socialized gender beliefs affect those around them (Shen-Miller et al., 2019; Davies et al., 2010). Counselors approach male clients with "unconditional positive regard" and provide clients with a feeling of control in the outcome of their therapy (Shen-Miller et al., 2019). Nontherapeutic settings are used to bring the therapeutic sessions, called "classes" or "consultations," to men, with peers as leaders (Shen-Miller et al., 2019).

Gestalt therapy, which focuses on the here-and-now, therapist-client experience, may be especially effective for male clients, as they tend to appreciate the direct, immediate feedback and the focus on the whole individual (Novack et al., 2013). The Gestalt two-chair exercise,

which encourages clients to develop self-empathy and self-compassion, may be an effective tool with men who adhere to traditional Western masculinity ideology (Neff et al., 2007). In this therapeutic exercise, the client plays two roles in the conflict, the part of the self that feels judged and the self-critical part. The goal is for the two split parts of the self to come together and for the part that feels judged to become heard (Greenberg, 1979; Clarke & Greenberg, 1986; Neff et al., 2007).

Helping men recognize their "gender role journey" can assist them to come to terms with how socialization of gender norms has affected their gender role conflict and move them towards finding more freedom in their gender role (O'Neil & Denke, 2016; O'Neil & Carroll, 1988).

Following acknowledgement of the acceptance of traditional, restrictive gender roles, the client recognizes his feelings regarding his gender role and how it affects him and those around him (O'Neil & Denke, 2016). Finally, the journey shifts to a commitment to action against restrictive norms, for himself and for others, which may bring a feeling of freedom (O'Neil & Carroll, 1988).

An example of male counseling in a nontraditional setting that investigates the gender role journey is the Confident Man Retreat, a dude ranch and group therapy retreat in Colorado that was started by two life coaches. Those who saddle up at the ranch are typically men who have trouble expressing their emotions, feel lonely, and who are unsure of their place in society (Baldwin, 2023). At the retreat, the participants are asked to reflect upon the socialization of traditional masculinity norms, including the concept that a man should aspire first to obtain what is required to live the life he wants to live and to be the kind of person he wants to be, such as getting a particular job in order to appear successful (Baldwin, 2023). One goal of the retreat founders is to communicate that this "have, do, be" mentality, which Baldwin describes as "a

Frankenstein of machismo and hypercapitalism" (Baldwin, 2023), may not work in today's society (Baldwin, 2023). By experiencing the group therapy factor of universality, by developing emotional intelligence, and by becoming more comfortable with emotional expression, the participants shift to a "be, do, have" mentality, focusing first on becoming the person they want to be, with the idea that the things they need to live the life they want will come to them as a result (Baldwin, 2023).

#### **Dance/Movement Therapy**

Dance/movement therapy is defined by the American Dance Therapy Association (ADTA) as "the psychotherapeutic use of movement to promote emotional, social, cognitive, and physical integration of the individual" (American Dance Therapy Association, n.d.). Dance/movement therapy has roots in humanistic psychology, which focuses on a person's strengths and recognizes his ability to grow and change (Levy, 1988). Dance/movement therapy is unique to other forms of therapy in that it offers the opportunity to access the embodied, nonverbal elements of an individual (Chaiklin, 2017). Attention to the inner experience of the body, along with external expression through movement, leads to the exploration and understanding of the self (Lauffenburger, 2020; Chaiklin, 2017; Ritter & Low, 1996; Pallaro, 1996). Through actions that encourage embodiment, such as paying attention to the rhythm of the breath; directing attention to internal sensations; creating and responding to rhythm with various body parts; moving parts of the body in isolation; and exploring feelings associated with contrary aspects of movement, dance/movement therapy helps a client develop an awareness of bodily sensations, which results in inward focus, which can lead to an awareness of internal feelings and emotions (Hawkins, 1991; Pallaro, 1996). Verbal or bodily expression of these internal feelings brings this subconscious material into consciousness where it may be processed

(Pallaro, 1996). Additionally, through movement that matches or is in contrast with movement of others, the dance/movement therapist or other group therapy participants, an individual experiences himself in relation to other people (Pallaro, 1996). The awareness and externalization of the internal self and the self in relationship can lead to a strengthened sense and understanding of the whole self, which can facilitate change (Hawkins, 1991; Pallaro, 1996).

Interoception is the awareness of internal bodily sensations, such as heartbeat, temperature, pain, and emotional sensations (Weir, 2023). Dance/movement therapy interventions can facilitate interoception by exploring the mind-body connection; tracking sensations in the body; and encouraging expression of sensory information so that clients gain new awareness of their bodily sensations and ultimately their emotional experiences (Hindi, 2012). Awareness of physical and sensory sensations helps the dance/movement therapist attune to herself and to her client to understand his experience, building rapport and deepening the therapeutic relationship (Christopher & Tamplin, 2022; Robertson, 2014). For the client, sensory information can bring about a recognition of physical cues of emotions, which can result in a deeper understanding of oneself and can hone his ability to self-regulate (Christopher & Tamplin, 2022).

A dance/movement therapist observes the movement of an individual through an attuned lens and considers how his movement patterns may convey his inner state. Using the Laban Movement Analysis (LMA) framework, for instance, the therapist observes how an individual moves his body relative to the space around him, such as the planes he inhabits, and his movement quality, or how he moves (North, 1990). Laban described how an individual moves using the "Effort Factors" of weight (strong, heavy movements or movements that are light),

time (moving quickly or sustaining movement), space (moving with directness or moving indirectly), and flow (free movement or movement that appears bound) (North, 1990). While context and culture are essential to consider when observing an individual's movement, some assessment based on movement patterns may be made regarding the mover's internal state (North, 1990). For instance, North perceived the way an individual moves through space (direct or indirect) as being indicative of their attention and cognition (North, 1990). Whether they moved with a quick or sustained effort might reflect decisiveness (North, 1990). Moving with strong weight effort and bound flow effort might show a gloominess (North, 1990). North equated movement with strong weight and direct space effort factors as reflecting having purpose and power, whereas free flow effort coupled with sustained time effort showed a sense of ease. (North, 1990).

Mirroring an individual's movement by reflecting his movement back to him using her own body, is a way for the dance/movement therapist to dive into the client's world and to communicate to him empathy and interest (Fischman, 2009). Marian Chace, one of the early practitioners of dance/movement therapy in the United States, expressed, "I know how you feel" to an individual by reenacting his movement in her own body, thus entering his world to establish trust and build the therapeutic relationship and validate his feelings (Chace & Schmais, 1993). When the therapist meets the client where he is and mirrors his movement in response to what she sees and feels, she attunes to the client's experience (Sandel, 1993). In seeing one another's movement, kinesthetic empathy, when one feels the experience of another by seeing or mirroring their movement, develops between the therapist and client and between a client and others in a dance/movement therapy group (Fischman, 2009). Mirroring, and the kinesthetic empathy that results, is especially effective for a client who may be resistant to therapy, as it is

self-affirming, conveys to the client "approval and appreciation" as well as mutuality, and develops a safe, trusting therapeutic relationship (Siefert & Yaron, 2021). In reflecting back to an individual his movement, the dance/movement therapist is also able to provide a way for the client to view the various parts of himself so that he may move towards experiencing a sense of wholeness (Vulcan, 2009, p.278).

While Chace mirrored her clients' movements, reflecting their experiences in her own body, to communicate to them her desire to connect, Mary Whitehouse, who developed what is now referred to as Authentic Movement, acted as a non-analytical, often still, witness, holding space for clients to move from their unconscious, inner impulses as a way to enhance their understanding of themselves (Musicant, 2007b; Fischman, 2009). Authentic Movement involves a mover and a witness or witnesses who observe the mover with compassion (Musicant, 2007b). In a safe space created by a supportive therapist-client relationship, with his eyes closed, the mover attunes to his bodily sensations and internal feelings and images (Musicant, 2007b). Once this inner connection is made, he waits for the impulse to move. "I am moved" replaces "I move" (Frieder, 2007, p.40) when the inner self takes over, kinesthetic awareness is activated, the ego surrenders, and the individual, who may typically focus on maintaining control, is moved to move (Frieder, 2007). The unconscious and the conscious join so that inner elements of the self may be externalized, observed, and clarified, an outer connection made (Frieder, 2007). Body awareness is followed by an inner impulse to move, after which an external connection to what is internal can be made, through movement and processing (Frieder, 2007).

Holding space for this experience, the witness waits, with empathy, without imposing her own impulse to move or her judgements regarding what she sees (Musicant, 2007). She may offer objective observations once the experience is complete to provide insight from her point of

view as a mirror to the client's experience (Musicant, 2007). Interoception is accessed by the mover as he first experiences being witnessed by another then develops his own ability to witness himself; this process ultimately leading to enhanced self-awareness, emotional regulation and a sense of identity (Hindi, 2012). The witness, in observing the process of the unconscious becoming externalized, acts as a catalyst for the mover to develop his or her own inner witness. As dance/movement therapist Janet Adler explained it, the mover is first aware of being witnessed; and, being seen externally, he begins to have the concept of witnessing himself internally, eventually developing his inner witness (Musicant, 2007a). Essential to both Authentic Movement and Chace's outer-directed movement is the kinesthetic empathy that is developed; through witnessing or mirroring another's movement and attuning to him in the moment, the dance/movement therapist feels and understands what the mover is experiencing, which builds the therapeutic relationship and encourages the client to recognize his own experience (Fischman, 2009).

#### **Western Dualism**

The United States is an individualistic society that emphasizes autonomy, self-sufficiency, and independence (Kim, 2002). Dualism and polarity reign, as evident in the tendency to find dichotomies in terms of who people are; an individual is defined as this or that, often with little consideration of more subtle details (Kim, 2002). With its emphasis on rational thought, the Western culture's separation of mind and body is inevitable, as is its polarizing of gender into male or female. Mind is man; nature or body is woman (Brook, 1999). For generations, this polarity of masculine and feminine has been performed in a sort of "scripted role-play" (Brook, 1999, p. 12), the roles written by society.

The field of dance/movement therapy emerged in part from a recognition by some of its founders of the stress Western dualism placed on individuals. Trudi Schoop saw society as demanding that an individual select a single identity, feeling, action, and thought to present to others (Schoop, 2000). Blanche Evan believed that modern, urban society operated counter to our internal impulses, perhaps forcing us to segment or repress our true selves, and even encouraging competitiveness with ourselves (Levy, 1988). Alma Hawkins recognized the expectations society placed on individuals to think and act in a certain way and emphasized removing the self from the world temporarily in order to access and express the inner experience (Hawkins, 1991). Bonnie Bainbridge Cohen's Body-Mind Centering approach addressed the social conditioning Western societies have imposed on individuals who feel dissociated from their bodies and their feelings and expressions (Hartley, 1995). In writing about cultural consciousness in dance/movement therapy, Chang describes how the field of dance/movement therapy was influenced by the individualism, autonomy, independence, self-sufficiency, assertiveness, and a preference for verbal communication that were stressed in psychological development and psychotherapy (Chang, 2009). Interestingly, these concepts are central to the traditional Western masculinity ideology.

#### **Gender in Dance/Movement Therapy**

Key to the creation of a safe and effective therapeutic space and relationship is for a dance/movement therapist to approach each individual client with an awareness of how his culture might influence his movement and his approach to dance/movement therapy as well as how the culture of the therapist herself and her assumptions and biases might affect the relationship (Caldwell, 2013). A dance/movement therapist must be careful not to make assumptions about her client's experience of the world based on his appearance. Some aspects of

an individual's culture are not visible; moreover, the client may be influenced to move in an inauthentic way based on the therapist's culture (Caldwell, 2013; Duffey & Haberstroh, 2014).

For a mental health clinician working in any modality, understanding one's own discomfort with and biases about working with males, including, more specifically, men who adhere to traditional Western masculinity ideology, is crucial, as is an awareness and knowledge of gender socialization and of the different ways symptoms of mental health problems such as depression may appear in traditionally masculine males as compared to others (Mahalik et al., 2012). Understanding the pressures males face is important, including the pressure to seem strong and to solve problems on one's own (Mahalik et al., 2012).

An overview of the 2010 ADTA International Panel that appeared in the *American Journal of Dance Therapy* noted that dance/movement therapy is "a predominantly feminine field" despite "existing in a world traditionally founded on patriarchal societies" (Capello, 2011). Some feel dance/movement therapy's focus on elements such as body image and emotions make it of interest more to female clients (Koch et al., 2007). Moreover, dance, the backbone of dance/movement therapy, has historically been considered "feminine" (Risner, 2007). Due to the socialization of anti-femininity and anti-homosexuality, for some men, to enjoy dancing with other men or watching other men dance, they feel they must make it known they do not condone homosexuality so as not to appear feminine in some way (Risner, 2007). This way of thinking may pose challenges for a dance/movement therapist who is working individually with a male client or who is trying to bring movement to an all-male therapy group.

According to Shoichi Machida, a dance/movement therapist in Japan who was part of the 2010 ADTA International Panel, male clients may feel more comfortable with a male dance/movement therapist, because they may feel their "level of energy [is] better matched"

(Capello, 2011). Alternatively, a female dance/movement therapist working with a male client may find that men, while reluctant to reveal their inner selves to their fellow men, are more used to disclosing to women (Duffey & Haberstroh, 2014). Sunyoung Park, a male dance/movement therapist from South Korea, expressed that he witnessed female clients display "feelings of anger and sadness" towards the men in their lives and wondered if he was being treated differently because he was a male dance/movement therapist (Capello, 2011). These insights bring up the question of how a male client might respond to working with a female dance/movement therapist.

The ADTA website includes a searchable directory of members. Of the 1,343 entries listed in the online directory, 210 of them contain no information. Thus, the ADTA member directory contains 1,133 members. A search of these 1,133 members revealed 13 members with preferred pronouns of he/him. An additional eight members either prefer they/them pronouns or do not list preferred pronouns and have culturally traditional Western names, perhaps indicating their maleness (ADTA, n.d.). Consequently, one can assume that most dance/movement therapists are female, and as a result, it is likely a male client will work with a female dance/movement therapist. It is important to consider that while dance/movement therapy is an effective way to counsel men who adhere to traditional Western masculinity ideology, the issue of gender is a focal point not only in the counseling itself but also in the gendered perception of the therapeutic modality and in the client-therapist relationship.

Men who adhere strictly to traditional Western masculinity ideology may find their lives negatively affected by their behavior related to socialized gender norms. Restrictive emotionality may lead to an inability to feel and recognize emotions, which can cause an individual to experience physical, mental, and behavioral problems. The avoidance of seeking mental health

help due to feelings of self-stigma and shame may have long-term, detrimental consequences, such as externalizing behaviors. Internal conflict related to gender roles may prompt an individual to direct aggressive behavior or bias towards others, especially females or non-heterosexual individuals, in an attempt to publicly display masculinity by exhibiting dominance or by rejecting the feminine.

Dance/movement therapy is an effective way to counsel men whose adherence to traditional Western masculinity ideology leads to mental health problems because of its use of nonverbal communication; its emphasis on increasing emotional awareness; its humanistic, strength-based approach; its ability to enhance an individual's self-compassion; and its efficacy as a group therapy modality. Additionally, the methods touted by the field of male psychology as being effective in counseling men, such as assisting men in recognizing how gender norm socialization has affected them; focusing on ideal versus real masculinity; and addressing self-stigma in terms of masculinity norms can be incorporated into dance/movement therapy interventions.

## Potential Resistance to Dance/Movement Therapy

A man who adheres to traditional Western masculinity ideology, and eschews anything considered "feminine," feels shame about seeking help, and restricts emotion and expression, may perceive engagement in dance/movement therapy as antithetical to the masculinity norms he has internalized. He might be reluctant to engage in any form of therapy, much less one that centers on the concept of "dance," to access and express somatically his internal experience to elicit therapeutic change. To some individuals, dance is considered to be a "feminine" activity, perhaps because public-facing, professional participation in dance of many forms is largely female. In 2021, women comprised 78.1% of professional dancers and choreographers,

compared to 21.9% who were men (Data USA, n.d.). Additionally, that somatic focus can result in psychological change may not feel plausible to a man who adheres to the traditional Western masculinity ideology norm of restrictive emotionality. By suppressing his emotions, he may not be aware of or have access to his mind-body connection and thus may not recognize how somatic work could positively affect his mental health.

Traditional masculinity norms might not only affect a man's impetus to engage in dance/movement therapy but might also impact how effective this therapeutic modality can be for him if the dance/movement therapist does not take care to approach a male client who adheres to traditional Western masculinity ideology in a culturally reflexive way. The power differential that is inherent in a therapist-client relationship could be problematic for a male client working with a female dance/movement therapist if the client has been socialized to believe he holds dominance over females. Mirroring is of significant importance in the experience of dance/movement therapy. A male client seeing his movement reflected back to him in a body that does not look anything like his own, as when a female dance/movement therapist mirrors his movement, might delay his perception of being seen, accepted, and understood. Importantly, a dance/movement therapist, male or female, who expects, consciously or unconsciously, based on socialized gender roles, certain behaviors from a male client, especially one who seems to adhere to traditional Western masculinity ideology, may reinforce the very norms with which the male client is struggling. The dance/movement therapist can model an approach to a male client that is different from what he has been socialized to assume by not holding an expectation that he will adhere to the traditional masculinity norms. If the dance/movement therapist is male, he can actively negate these norms, such as emotional restrictiveness, to be witnessed by the male client.

## **Effectiveness of Dance/Movement Therapy**

While the idea of accessing emotion through the body may be conceptually challenging to a man who adheres to the restrictive emotionality norm, for men who have been socialized to place importance on physicality and strength, the corporeal focus of dance/movement therapy may be more appealing than verbal psychotherapy. For a man who has been socialized to tamp down his emotions to be provided the opportunity to express his internal feelings using his physical body might be especially freeing and effective for an individual who is resistant to verbal psychotherapy. The nonverbal aspect of dance/movement therapy removes the requirement to primarily use words to describe emotions and guides the male client to become attuned to his internal sensations and emotions and externalize them through movement before, or in lieu of, verbally processing them. The dance/movement therapist's attuned somatic awareness and embodied understanding of the male client based on his nonverbal communication diminishes the need for his verbal expression.

By encouraging awareness of bodily sensations and the feelings that may be connected with those sensations, the dance/movement therapist assists the client in growing his emotional awareness. Insight into his emotional experience may ultimately lead to an increase in overall self-awareness and an understanding of what his authentic self looks like. A desire to live with authenticity may provide the male client the courage to take action that is counter to some of the elements of traditional Western masculinity ideology that feel to him to be too restrictive or that he may perceive as causing harm to himself or to those around him. Increased interoception and awareness of bodily cues that signal emotional arousal may contribute to the ability of an individual to more easily self-regulate, as he gains an understanding of when and how he needs

to manage his emotions. An improved ability to self-regulate may reduce externalizing behaviors.

Dance/movement therapy, with its foundation in humanistic psychology, focuses on the individual as a whole and recognizes the strain that dualism can sometimes place on individuals. A man who experiences gender role conflict may feel as if his identity is split into parts, with one part behaving in alignment with the traditionally male role norms he has been socialized to follow and the other reluctant to do so because he perceives his behavior as being harmful to himself or others. One of the goals of mirroring movement is to enable the client to see parts of himself reflected back to him so that he can shift towards understanding himself as a whole being. Dance/movement therapy's roots in humanistic psychology also make it an effective partner with the positive psychology/positive masculinity framework. The dance/movement therapist approaches a client with unconditional positive regard, focusing on his strengths, much like positive psychology/positive masculinity, which emphasizes the aspects of masculinity that are constructive, rather than those that may be harmful, potentially ensuring that men who adhere to traditional Western masculinity ideology will have their counseling needs met in a constructive, culturally reflexive way.

There are ways a dance/movement therapist working with men who adhere to traditional masculinity ideology can tailor his or her approach to focus on the positive characteristics of masculinity. Acknowledging that traditionally masculine men engaging in dance/movement therapy are showing strength by seeking help for their mental health challenges taps into the positive masculinity aspect of courage. The emphasis on work in the traditional Western masculinity ideology may be called upon in dance/movement therapy by tasking the male clients to "work" together towards a goal. The traditionally masculine male's penchant for caring for

and protecting others is called upon in a group dance/movement therapy setting, when he reflects upon and responds to groupmates' bodily expressions of emotion and experience by mirroring their movement.

A dance/movement therapist's ability to keenly observe movement enables her to explore with the male client how he presents his masculinity based on who is around him and how his movement patterns may illustrate his internal feelings regarding his adherence to certain aspects of traditional Western masculinity ideology and any inner conflict that may arise when he acts counter to these elements of the ideology. With what LMA effort factors does he move when he is asked to consider his gender role journey? When expressing his masculinity through movement, is a strong weight effort and bound flow effort observed, perhaps indicating force and control? Does his movement pattern shift when he considers how seeking mental health help goes against how he was taught a man behaves? Is there an element of masculinity towards which he moves with indirect space effort and light weight effort, perhaps indicating uncertainty? How do his movement patterns differ during a session in which he is the sole client compared to when he is in an all-male group? Bringing any differences to his attention may make clear to him how his perception of societal expectations affects how he presents himself to and interacts with the world. This type of reflection bolsters the strength of the inner witness, which ultimately illuminates self-awareness of whether or not the individual is living with authenticity.

## **Dance/Movement Therapy Interventions**

Connecting the mind and body may be one of the first goals of a dance/movement therapy session with a male client who adheres strictly to the traditional Western masculinity ideology norm of emotional restrictiveness, as somatic awareness and emotional awareness are

inherently, yet not always obviously to some, linked. By experiencing exercises that encourage a sense of grounding, the male client may feel more attuned to his physical body's presence in the here-and-now therapeutic space. To achieve this grounding and awareness, the dance/movement therapist can guide the client to direct his attention to, and engage with, both internal, bodily rhythms, such as heartbeat and breath, and external rhythms, from sources such as recorded music and rhythm created by those in the space. Body awareness and grounding can also be achieved through self-touch and by isolating movement in one body part at a time. Moving using a strong weight effort can also contribute to a sense of grounding, as it enables the mover to experience a feeling of his body literally connecting with the area around him. Feeling anchored in the therapeutic space through his body and having increased awareness of his own somatic form and how it feels to move it, the male client can begin to attune to the sensations that arise within his body.

Dance/movement therapy interventions that encourage an individual to deeply enter his subconscious mind, such as Authentic Movement, may be especially effective for someone who has difficulty with interoception and with recognizing his internal emotions, such as men experiencing normative male alexithymia. Strictly conforming to gender role norms and living based on behavioral expectations can cause a disconnection with inner impulses and awareness. Hawkins' method of dance/movement therapy involves taking an individual to a state of "relaxed concentration," then inviting him to notice sensations and feelings that arise, ultimately providing him with the opportunity to make communicable images from these feelings and then to externalize these images, not with words, but with movement. For a man who has been socialized to ignore and suppress inner sensations and emotions, reaching this state of relaxed concentration may be what is necessary to access these aspects of the self. During the Authentic

Movement experience, being witnessed, by the dance/movement therapist or by others in the therapy group, while moving and in the process of noticing and expressing his inner emotions, can help the client develop his own inner witness that regularly attunes to sensations and feelings.

The experience of dance/movement therapy in a group has the potential to be effective for male clients who strictly adhere to traditional Western masculinity ideology. A dance/movement therapy group can evoke in a man who adheres to traditional Western masculinity ideology the recognition of the universality of experience. The perception a client may have that he is alone in his feelings and his experience related to living up to societal expectations of masculinity may be challenged when witnessing other men's expression and processing of the effects of gender socialization on their own lives. Being in a space with other men who are also seeking help and witnessing them somatically express their emotions may reduce self-stigma around obtaining mental health assistance and around showing feelings.

Additionally, witnessing another man's nonverbal communication of his feelings regarding his adherence to traditional Western masculinity norms and gender role conflict he may experience may enhance a male client's awareness of how his own somatic expression reveals his authentic feelings about the norms he has been socialized to adhere to.

Restrictive emotionality, a norm of traditional Western masculinity ideology, tends to thwart empathy (Levant & Pryor, 2020). The kinesthetic empathy that is developed during the witnessing and mirroring of movement in a dance/movement therapy group may evoke empathy for others and empathy for the self. Experiencing the kinesthetic empathy other members of the group develop for an individual can influence how he perceives himself as being deserving of empathy and thus can lead him to bestow empathy upon himself. Additionally, the kinesthetic

empathy he experiences for the other men in the group by witnessing or mirroring their movement can result in self-empathy, as he recognizes the universality of the group members' experiences.

Experiencing empathy for oneself can lead to self-compassion. To have self-compassion is to understand that everyone faces challenges; to refuse to criticize oneself for shortcomings; and to acknowledge the need for self-care in the face of difficult times. According to research, having self-compassion may protect an individual from experiencing the anxiety that arises from self-evaluation and self-criticism. As the Wasylkiw and Clairo (2018) study found, group cohesion that results from the mutuality of group involvement and the sharing of life experiences, both positive and negative, can lead to increased self-compassion. Having self-compassion can reduce the shame and self-stigma that arises when a man who adheres strictly to traditional Western masculinity ideology experiences gender role strain, from his desire to act contrary to socialized gender role norms or when aligning with norms has a negative impact.

Engagement in a dance/movement therapy group can also provide the opportunity for a corrective emotional experience. For instance, during a group dance/movement therapy session, if a man behaves counter to restrictive emotionality, and the consequences are nonexistent or are minor relative to his expectations, he understands that emotional expression is possible. A group dance/movement therapy session also provides a male client the chance to support other men in the group, by mirroring the movement of others or by encouraging expression. Seeing a body reflect back one's own movement can be validating and can encourage further expression and processing. Providing that validation and encouragement for a peer may feel gratifying and lead to a positive self-image. Practicing altruism towards others in the group aligns with the

traditional masculinity characteristic of caring for others, which a male client may have been socialized to believe is one of his duties.

Witnessing personal storytelling regarding mental health was found to reduce self-stigma related to seeking mental health help (Keum & Ogrodniczuk, 2022). A dance/movement therapy intervention that involves multiple male clients sharing their personal stories in movement to be witnessed by the others in the group may be especially effective in encouraging the participants to engage fully in the therapy. Feelings of self-stigma and shame, which may occur when gender role conflict is experienced, can diminish. Narrating, through movement, his gender role journey, or how his gender role socialization has informed his behavior, might be the first opportunity a male client has to fully recognize the part socialization has played in his adherence to the ideology. Being a witness to his own journey and to that of others may lead him towards self-compassion. The epilogue of his story might include consideration of what his real masculine self is compared to his ideal masculine self, or the type of man he would prefer to be.

The Gestalt two-chair exercise, found to enhance self-compassion, helps an individual to see the two parts of himself that are in conflict and is an intervention that, one might argue, would be even more effective for men who adhere to traditional Western masculinity ideology if implemented somatically rather than verbally. In a dance/movement therapy intervention influenced by this therapy technique, a male client might be encouraged to explore his gender role conflict by having the part of him that is critical of his behavior related to masculinity norms converse physically with the part of him that feels compelled towards or away from the norms. This exploration may support reflection of what his ideal masculinity might be and how his adherence to traditional Western masculinity ideology may prevent integration of his whole being and may keep him from living authentically.

That traditional Western masculinity ideology relies upon the traditional gender dualism of male and female makes the exploration of polarities of movement in dance/movement therapy especially relevant to counseling men who adhere to this ideology. A man who strictly adheres to traditional Western masculinity ideology presumably over-identifies with the traditional gender role norms. Exploring this bias towards a particular polarity and its opposite can help him move towards a more holistic experience of himself. This exploration can take place in dance/movement therapy as the male client finds his authentic way of moving, and the dance/movement therapist identifies movement patterns and polar biases in his movement that are perhaps reflective of his inner state. Exaggeration of these qualities and the subsequent exploration of their opposites, both through direct movement by the client and the reflection of his movement back to him by the dance/movement therapist, may result in integration and understanding of the whole self.

Dance/movement therapy provides the opportunity for the male client to use metaphor to make verbal sense of his bodily-felt experience, which may be a gradual step towards using descriptive words for his feelings. Imagery of restriction to explain their views of masculinity has been used not only by an expert in the psychology of men ("imprisoned by masculinity," (Levant & Pryor, 2020)) and by an anti-violence activist ("act like a man box," (Heilman et al., 2017)), but also by a self-proclaimed misogynist ("free the modern man from socially induced incarceration" (Institute for Strategic Dialogue, n.d.)). These individuals' perceptions of masculinity norms' restrictiveness differ in that while psychologist Levant (Levant & Pryor, 2020) and activist Kivel (Heilman et al., 2017) seek to free men from the restriction of traditional masculinity norms, toxic male influencer Tate perceives men who live by traditional masculinity norms as being restricted by a society that no longer celebrates traditional masculinity.

Incorporation into a dance/movement therapy intervention of imagery of restriction, such as the creation of an enclosed space or a literal box shape, would be an effective tool for men who adhere to traditional Western masculinity ideology. A dance/movement therapist might instruct a male client to create the restrictive space around him to symbolize his gender role socialization and his corresponding feeling of obligation of behavior. The dance/movement therapist would encourage him to become aware of his bodily sensations as he exists within the restricted space. The client would be asked to come up with ways he might break out of the "man box" and then physically enact that break-out while noticing physical sensations and emotions. Enacting this metaphorical breakthrough might encourage a literal shift away from the restrictions of traditional Western masculinity ideology.

Men who adhere strictly to traditional Western masculinity ideology are in danger of experiencing poor mental health if they feel conflict related to their behavior aligning with or in contrast to the gender norms they have been socialized to believe they must follow. Seeking help for mental health challenges goes against traditional Western masculinity ideology, as does emotional expression, which makes these men especially vulnerable to the negative effects of poor mental health. With its strength-based, humanistic focus, its emphasis on nonverbal expression and emotional awareness, and its use of the group therapy experience, dance/movement therapy is an especially effective mental health counseling modality for these men.

## References

- Addis, M. E., & Hoffman, E. (2020). The psychology of men in context (1st ed.). Routledge.
- Addis, M. E., & Mahalik, J. R. (2003). Men, masculinity, and the contexts of help seeking. *The American Psychologist*, 58(1), 5–14.
- American Dance Therapy Association. (n.d.). https://www.adta.org/
- American Dance Therapy Association. Member Directory. Retrieved January 23, 2024, from <a href="https://www.adta.org/index.php?option=com\_mcdirectorysearch&view=search&id=2002">https://www.adta.org/index.php?option=com\_mcdirectorysearch&view=search&id=2002</a>
  342#/.
- American Institute for Boys and Men. (n.d.). *Mental health*. Retrieved November 16, 2023, from <a href="https://aibm.org/why-we-exist/research-areas/mental-health/">https://aibm.org/why-we-exist/research-areas/mental-health/</a>
- American Psychological Association, Boys and Men Guidelines Group. (2018). *APA guidelines* for psychological practice with boys and men. Retrieved November 10, 2023, from <a href="https://www.apa.org/about/policy/boys-men-practice-guidelines.pdf">https://www.apa.org/about/policy/boys-men-practice-guidelines.pdf</a>
- Baldwin, R. (2023, September 28). Do you need a visit to the Confident Man Ranch? *GQ Magazine*. https://www.gq.com/story/confident-man-ranch-profile
- Berke, D. S., Leone, R., Parrott, D., & Gallagher, K. E. (2020). Drink, don't think: The role of masculinity and thought suppression in men's alcohol-related aggression. *Psychology of Men & Masculinities*, 21(1), 36-45. https://doi.org/10.1037/men0000199
- Berke, D. S., Reidy, D. E., Miller, J. D., & Zeichner, A. (2017). Take it like a man: Gender-threatened men's experience of gender role discrepancy, emotion activation, and pain tolerance. *Psychology of Men and Masculinity*, *18*(1), 62–69.

  https://doi.org/10.1037/men0000036

Berke, D. S., Reidy, D., & Zeichner, A. (2018). Masculinity, emotion regulation, and psychopathology: A critical review and integrated model. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 66, 106–116. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2018.01.004">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2018.01.004</a>

- Bola, J. J. (2019). *Mask off: Masculinity redefined*. Pluto Press.

  https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&scope=site&db=nlebk&db=nlabk&

  AN=2250068
- Bosson, J. K., & Vandello, J. A. (2011). Precarious manhood and its links to action and aggression. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 20(2), 82–86. https://doi.org/10.2307/23045757
- Bosson, J. K., Vandello, J. A., Burnaford, R. M., Weaver, J. R., & Arzu Wasti, S. (2009).

  Precarious manhood and displays of physical aggression. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 35(5), 623–634. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/0146167208331161">https://doi.org/10.1177/0146167208331161</a>
- Brook, B. (2014). Feminist perspectives on the body. Routledge.
- Caldwell, C. (2013). Diversity issues in movement observation and assessment. *American Journal of Dance Therapy*, 35(2). 183–200. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10465-013-9159-9
- Capello, P. P. (2011). Men in dance/movement therapy. *American Journal of Dance Therapy* 33(8-27). https://doi.org/10.1007/s10465-011-9105-7
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2022, November 14). Alcohol and public health.

  Retrieved November 17, 2023, from <a href="https://www.cdc.gov/alcohol/fact-sheets/binge-drinking.htm">https://www.cdc.gov/alcohol/fact-sheets/binge-drinking.htm</a>
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2023, August 10). Suicide data and statistics.

  Retrieved November 14, 2023, from <a href="https://www.cdc.gov/suicide/suicide-data-statistics.html">https://www.cdc.gov/suicide/suicide-data-statistics.html</a>

Chace, M. & Schmais, C. (1993). The Chace approach to dance therapy. In Chace, M., Sandel, S.
L., Chaiklin, S., & Lohn, A. (Eds.) Foundations of dance/movement therapy: The life and work of Marian Chace. Marian Chace Memorial Fund of the American Dance Therapy Association.

- Chaiklin, S. (2017). Connecting the practice of dance/movement therapy: What differentiates us?

  \*American Journal of Dance Therapy, 39(1), 142-147. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10465-017-9253-5
- Chang, M. (2009). Cultural consciousness and the global context of dance/movement therapy. In Chaiklin, S. & Wengrower, H. (Eds.) *The art and science of dance/movement therapy:*Life is dance. Routledge.
- Christopher, N., & Tamplin, J. (2022). The use of kinesthetic empathy with adults living with treatment resistant depression: A survey study. *American Journal of Dance Therapy*, 44(2), 115-142. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s10465-022-09371-4">https://doi.org/10.1007/s10465-022-09371-4</a>
- Clarke, K. M., & Greenberg, L. S. (1986). Differential effects of the Gestalt two-chair intervention and problem solving in resolving decisional conflict. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 33(1), 11–15. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-0167.33.1.11
- Cole, B. P., Baglieri, M., Ploharz, S., Brennan, M., Ternes, M., Patterson, T., & Kuznia, A.
  (2019). What's right with men? Gender role socialization and men's positive functioning.
  American Journal of Men's Health, 13(1), 12.
  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/1557988318806074">https://doi.org/10.1177/1557988318806074</a>
- Cole, B. P., & Davidson, M. M. (2018). Exploring men's perceptions about male depression.

  \*Psychology of Men & Masculinities, 20(4), 459–466.

  https://doi.org/10.1037/men0000176

Cole, B. P. & Ingram, P. B. (2020). Where do I turn for help? Gender role conflict, self-stigma, and college men's help-seeking for depression. *Psychology of Men & Masculinities*, 21(3), 441-452. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1037/men0000245">https://doi.org/10.1037/men0000245</a>

- Cole, B. P., Petronzi, G. J., Singley, D. B., & Baglieri, M. (2019). Predictors of men's psychotherapy preferences. *Counseling and Psychotherapy Research*, 19(1), 45–56. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1002/capr.12201">https://doi.org/10.1002/capr.12201</a>
- Das, S. (2022, August). Inside the violent, misogynistic world of TikTok's new star, Andrew Tate. *The Guardian*. <a href="https://www.theguardian.com/technology/2022/aug/06/andrew-tate-violent-misogynistic-world-of-tiktok-new-star">https://www.theguardian.com/technology/2022/aug/06/andrew-tate-violent-misogynistic-world-of-tiktok-new-star</a>
- Data USA: Dancers & Choreographers. Retrieved January 22, 2024, from <a href="https://datausa.io/profile/soc/dancers-choreographers">https://datausa.io/profile/soc/dancers-choreographers</a>
- Davies, J. A., Shen-Miller, D. S., & Isacco, A. (2010). The Men's Center approach to addressing the health crisis of college men. *Professional Psychology: Research and Practice*, 41(4), 347–354. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1037/a0020308">https://doi.org/10.1037/a0020308</a>
- DeBate, R., Gatto, A., Rafal, G., & Bleck, J. (2022). A qualitative assessment of mental health literacy and help-seeking behaviors among male college students. *Discover Mental Health*, 2(1). https://doi.org/10.1007/s44192-022-00028-9
- Duffey, T. & Haberstroh, S. (2014). Female counselors working with male clients using relational-cultural theory. In Englar-Carlson, M., Evans, M.P., & Duffey, T., (Eds.), *A Counselor's guide to working with men*. (pp. 307-323). American Counseling Association.
- Englar-Carlson, M. Introduction: A primer on counseling men. (2014). In Englar-Carlson, M., Evans, M.P., & Duffey, T., (Eds.), *A Counselor's guide to working with men*. (pp. 1-34). American Counseling Association.

Englar-Carlson, M., & Kiselica, M. S. (2013). Affirming the strengths in men: A positive masculinity approach to assisting male clients. *Journal of Counseling & Development*, 91(4), 399–409. https://doi.org/10.1002/j.1556-6676.2013.00111.x

- Ewens, H. (2023, October 9). Meet the new anti-Andrew Tates. *GQ Magazine*. <a href="https://www.gq-magazine.co.uk/article/anti-toxic-masculinity-movement">https://www.gq-magazine.co.uk/article/anti-toxic-masculinity-movement</a>
- Ferguson, C. J. (2022, September 22). The American Psychological Association is waging war on men and boys. *Newsweek*. <a href="https://www.newsweek.com/american-psychological-association-waging-war-men-boys-opinion-1744998">https://www.newsweek.com/american-psychological-association-waging-war-men-boys-opinion-1744998</a>
- Ferguson, C. J. (2023). The American Psychological Association's practice guidelines for men and boys: Are they hurting rather than helping male mental wellness? *New Ideas in Psychology*, 68. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.newideapsych.2022.100984
- Fischman, D. (2009). Therapeutic relationships and kinesthetic empathy. In Chaiklin, S. & Wengrower, H. (Eds.) *The art and science of dance/movement therapy: Life is dance*. (pp. 33-52). Routledge.
- Fossett, K. (2023, July 17). The best way to find out if someone is a Trump voter? Ask them what they think about manhood.

  https://www.politico.com/news/magazine/2023/07/14/masculinity-polling-00105414
- Frieder, S. (2007). Reflections on Mary Starks Whitehouse. In P. Pallaro (Ed.), *Authentic Movement* (pp. 35-44). Jessica Kingsley Publishers.
- Gaines, M. & Weekes, W. FreshandFit. (n.d.). Retrieved November 22, 2023, from <a href="https://www.youtube.com/@FreshFitMiami">https://www.youtube.com/@FreshFitMiami</a>
- Greenberg, L. S. (1979). Resolving splits: Use of the two chair technique. *Psychotherapy: Theory, Research & Practice, 16*(3), 316–324. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1037/h0085895">https://doi.org/10.1037/h0085895</a>

Haidt, J. (2023, November 14). Why I'm increasingly worried about boys, too. American

Institute for Boys and Men. <a href="https://aibm.org/commentary/why-im-increasingly-worried-about-boys-too/">https://aibm.org/commentary/why-im-increasingly-worried-about-boys-too/</a>

- Hartley, L. (1995). Wisdom of the body moving: An introduction to body-mind centering. North Atlantic Books.
- Hawkins, A. M. (1991). The intuitive process as a force in change. *American Journal of Dance Therapy*, 13(2), 105-116.
- Hawley, J. (2021, November 1). Senator Hawley delivers national conservatism keynote on the left's attack on men in America. Retrieved on November 7, 2023, from <a href="https://www.hawley.senate.gov/senator-hawley-delivers-national-conservatism-keynote-lefts-attack-men-america#:~:text=For%20while%20the%20Left's%20assault,and%20healthy%20manhood%20in%20America</a>
- Heilman, B., Barker, G., & Harrison, A. (2017). The Man Box: A study on being a young man in the U.S., U.K., and Mexico.

  https://www.equimundo.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/03/TheManBox-FullReport.pdf
- Himmelstein, M. S., Kramer, B. L., & Springer, K. W. (2019). Stress in strong convictions:

  Precarious manhood beliefs moderate cortisol reactivity to masculinity threats.

  Psychology of Men & Masculinities, 20(4), 491-502. https://doi.org/10.1037/men0000187
- Hindi, F. S. (2012). How attention to interoception can inform dance/movement therapy.

  \*American Journal of Dance Therapy, 34(2), 129–140. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10465-012-9136-8

Institute for Strategic Dialogue. The "Manosphere." (n.d.). Retrieved on November 11, 2023, from https://www.isdglobal.org/explainers/the-manosphere-explainer/

- Jampel, J. D., Gazarian, D., Addis, M. E., & Hoffman, E. (2020). Traditional masculinity ideology and diagnostic aversion predict symptom expression in a community sample of distressed men. Sex Roles, 82(11-12), 704-715. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s11199-019-01083-3">https://doi.org/10.1007/s11199-019-01083-3</a>
- Kaiser Family Foundation. (2021). Opioid overdose deaths by sex. Retrieved November 22, 2023, from <a href="https://www.kff.org/other/state-indicator/opioid-overdose-deaths-by-sex/?currentTimeframe=0&sortModel=%7B%22colId%22:%22Location%22,%22sort%22:%22asc%22%7D">https://www.kff.org/other/state-indicator/opioid-overdose-deaths-by-sex/?currentTimeframe=0&sortModel=%7B%22colId%22:%22Location%22,%22sort%22:%22asc%22%7D</a>
- Kaya, A., Iwamoto, D. K., Brady, J., Clinton, L., & Grivel, M. (2019). The role of masculine norms and gender role conflict on prospective well-being among men. *Psychology of Men & Masculinities*, 20(1), 142-147. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1037/men0000155">https://doi.org/10.1037/men0000155</a>
- Keum, B. T., & Ogrodniczuk, J. S. (2023). The role of first-person depression storytelling online video on men's self-stigma of seeking help, traditional masculinity ideology, and psychological help-seeking attitudes. *Journal of Men's Studies*, 31(2), 241-260. https://doi.org/10.1177/10608265221108511
- Kim, D. M. S. (2002). Non-Western perspectives on human communication: Implications for theory and practice. SAGE Publications.
- Kiselica, M. S., Benton-Wright, S., & Englar-Carlson, M. (2016). Accentuating positive masculinity: A new foundation for the psychology of boys, men, and masculinity. In Wong, Y. J., Wester, S. R., & American Psychological Association (Eds.), *APA*

- Handbook of Men and Masculinities (First, Ser. APA handbooks in psychology series). (pp.123-143). American Psychological Association.
- Kiselica, M. S., & Englar-Carlson, M. (2010). Identifying, affirming, and building upon male strengths: The positive psychology/positive masculinity model of psychotherapy with boys and men. *Psychotherapy: Theory, Research, Practice, Training, 47*(3), 276–287. https://doi-org.ezproxyles.flo.org/10.1037/a0021159
- Koch, S.C. & Morlinghaus, K. & Fuchs, T. The joy dance: Specific effects of a single dance intervention on psychiatric patients with depression. *The Arts in Psychotherapy*. 34(2007), 340-349.
- Kumar, R. P., Bedi, R. P., & Lo, C. O. (2023). Possible masculinities: A grounded theory on how university men envision themselves in the future. *Qualitative Psychology*, (20230817). https://doi.org/10.1037/qup0000261
- Lauffenburger, S. K. (2020). Something more: The unique features of dance movement therapy/psychotherapy. *American Journal of Dance Therapy*, 42(1), 16-32. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s10465-020-09321-y">https://doi.org/10.1007/s10465-020-09321-y</a>
- Levant, R. F. (2011). Research in the psychology of men and masculinity using the gender role strain paradigm as a framework. *The American Psychologist*, 66(8), 765.
- Levant, R. F. (2022). Extending the gender role strain paradigm to account for U.S. males' gun violence. *Psychology of Men & Masculinity*, 23(2), 151–159.
- Levant, R. F., Allen, P. A., & Lien, M. C. (2014). Alexithymia in men: How and when do emotional processing deficiencies occur? *Psychology of Men and Masculinity*, *15*(3), 324–334. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0033860

Levant, R. F., Good, G. E., Cook, S. W., O Neil, J. M., Smalley, K. B., Owen, K., & Richmond, K. (2006). The normative male alexithymia scale: Measurement of a gender-linked syndrome. *Psychology of Men and Masculinity*, 7(4), 212–222.

- Levant, R. F., Hayden, E. W., Halter, M. J., & Williams, C. M. (2009). The efficacy of alexithymia reduction treatment: A pilot study. *The Journal of Men's Studies*, *17*(1), 75–84. <a href="https://doi.org/10.3149/jms.1701.75">https://doi.org/10.3149/jms.1701.75</a>
- Levant, R. F., McDermott, R. C., Rabinowitz, F. E., Englar-Carlson, M., Liang, C. T. H., & Kilmartin, C. (2023). Rebuttal to Christopher J. Ferguson's critique of the American Psychological Association's practice guidelines for boys and men. *New Ideas in Psychology*, 69. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.newideapsych.2023.101012
- Levant, R. F., & Pryor, S. (2020). *The tough standard: The hard truths about masculinity and violence*. Oxford University Press.

  http://public.eblib.com/choice/PublicFullRecord.aspx?p=6199019
- Levant, R. F., Rankin, T. J., Williams, C. M., Hasan, N. T., & Smalley, K. B. (2010). Evaluation of the factor structure and construct validity of scores on the male role norms inventory-revised (mrni-r). *Psychology of Men and Masculinity, 11*(1), 25–37. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0017637
- Levant, R. F. & Richmond, K. (2016). The gender role strain paradigm and masculinity ideologies. In Wong, Y. J., Wester, S. R., & American Psychological Association (Eds.), *APA Handbook of Men and Masculinities* (First, Ser. APA handbooks in psychology series). (pp. 23-49). American Psychological Association.

Levy, F. J. (2005). *Dance movement therapy: A healing art* (2nd rev.). National Dance

Association an Association of the American Alliance for Health, Physical Education,

Recreation, and Dance.

- Li, T. (2022). The impact of advertising exposure on the gendered perceptions of men with mental health concerns. *Journal of Consumer Marketing*, 39(6), 610–620. https://doi.org/10.1108/JCM-01-2021-4394
- McDermott, R. C., Smith, P. N., Borgogna, N., Booth, N., Granato, S., & Sevig, T. D. (2018).
  College students' conformity to masculine role norms and help-seeking intentions for suicidal thoughts. *Psychology of Men and Masculinity*, 19(3), 340–351.
  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1037/men0000107">https://doi.org/10.1037/men0000107</a>
- Mahalik, J. R., & Dagirmanjian, F. R. (2019). Working-class men's constructions of help-seeking when feeling depressed or sad. *American Journal of Men's Health*, 13(3), 13. https://doi.org/10.1177/1557988319850052
- Mahalik, J. R., Good, G. E., Tager, D., Levant, R. F., & Mackowiak, C. (2012). Developing a taxonomy of helpful and harmful practices for clinical work with boys and men. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 59(4), 591–603. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1037/a0030130">https://doi.org/10.1037/a0030130</a>
- Mahalik, J. R., Locke, B. D., Ludlow, L. H., Diemer, M. A., Scott, R. P. J., Gottfried, M., & Freitas, G. (2003). Development of the conformity to masculine norms inventory.

  \*Psychology of Men & Masculinity, 4(1), 3–25. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1037//1524-9220.4.1.3">https://doi.org/10.1037//1524-9220.4.1.3</a>
- Mesler, R. M., Leary, R. B., & Montford, W. J. (2022). The relationships between masculine gender role discrepancy, discrepancy stress and men's health-related behavior.

  \*Personality and Individual Differences, 184, 13.\*

  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2021.111205

Miller, C. (2023, April 18). Male supremacy is at the core of the hard right's agenda. The Southern Poverty Law Center. <a href="https://www.splcenter.org/hatewatch/2023/04/18/male-supremacy-core-hard-rights-agenda">https://www.splcenter.org/hatewatch/2023/04/18/male-supremacy-core-hard-rights-agenda</a>

- Miller, C.C. (2016, October 18). What our sons are learning from Donald Trump. *The New York Times*. <a href="https://www.nytimes.com/2016/10/18/upshot/what-our-sons-are-learning-from-donald-trump.html">https://www.nytimes.com/2016/10/18/upshot/what-our-sons-are-learning-from-donald-trump.html</a>
- Morgan, R. F. & Thompson, A. (2022, February). Criminal victimization, 2020: Supplemental statistical tables. U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, Bureau of Justice Statistics. https://bjs.ojp.gov/content/pub/pdf/cv20sst.pdf
- Musicant, S. (2007a). Authentic Movement in clinical work. In P. Pallaro (Ed.), Authentic movement: Moving the body, moving the self, being moved. A collection of essays (Vol. II, pp. 116-127). Jessica Kingsley Publishers.
- Musicant, S. (2007b). Authentic Movement: Clinical and theoretical considerations. In P. Pallaro (Ed.), Authentic movement: Moving the body, moving the self, being moved. A collection of essays (Vol. II, pp. 128-136). Jessica Kingsley Publishers.
- National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine. (2022). Measuring sex, gender identity, and sexual orientation. [White paper]. The National Academies Press. <a href="https://doi.org/10.17226/26424">https://doi.org/10.17226/26424</a>
- Neff, K. D., Kirkpatrick, K. L., & Rude, S. S. (2007). Self-compassion and adaptive psychological functioning. *Journal of Research in Personality*, 41(1), 139–154. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrp.2006.03.004
- North, M. (1990). Personality assessment through movement. Northcote.

Novack, J., Park, S. J., & Friedman, A. N. (2013). Integrated masculinity: Using Gestalt counseling with male clients. *Journal of Counseling and Development*, 91(4), 483-489. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1002/j.1556-6676.2013.00121.x">https://doi.org/10.1002/j.1556-6676.2013.00121.x</a>

- O'Neil, J. M. (2013). Gender role conflict research 30 years later: An evidence-based diagnostic schema to assess boys and men in counseling. *Journal of Counseling & Development*, 91(4), 490–498. https://doi.org/10.1002/j.1556-6676.2013.00122.x
- O'Neil. J. M., & Carroll, M. R. (1988). A gender role workshop focused on sexism, gender role conflict, and the gender role journey. *Journal of Counseling & Development*, 67(3), 193–197. https://doi.org/10.1002/j.1556-6676.1988.tb02091.x
- O'Neil, J. M. & Denke, R. (2016). An empirical review of gender role conflict research: New conceptual models and research paradigms. In Wong, Y. J., Wester, S. R., & American Psychological Association (Eds.), *APA Handbook of Men and Masculinities* (First, Ser. APA handbooks in psychology series). (pp. 51-79). American Psychological Association.
- Onibada, A. (2022, September 28). My brother is so far gone: How male influencers turned the men in these people's lives toxic. BuzzFeedNews.

  <a href="https://www.buzzfeednews.com/article/adeonibada/andrew-tate-fresh-fit-podcast-kevin-samuels-toxic-male">https://www.buzzfeednews.com/article/adeonibada/andrew-tate-fresh-fit-podcast-kevin-samuels-toxic-male</a>
- Pallaro, P. (1996). Self and body self: Dance/movement therapy and the development of object relations. *The Arts in Psychotherapy*, 23(2), 113–119.
- Pallaro, P. (2007). Somatic countertransference: The therapist in relationship. In P. Pallaro (Ed.), Authentic movement: Moving the body, moving the self, being moved. A collection of essays (Vol. II, pp. 176–193). Jessica Kingsley.
- Pappas, S. (2019). APA issues first-ever guidelines for practice with men and boys. *Monitor on*

Psychology. Retrieved November 23, 2023, from

https://www.apa.org/monitor/2019/01/ce

-corner?utm\_content=1546300435&utm\_medium=social&utm\_source=twitter

- Pleck, J. H. (1995). The gender role strain paradigm: An update. In R. F. Levant & W. S. Pollack (Eds.), *A new psychology of men* (pp. 11-32). Basic Books.
- Public Religion Research Institute (2022, October 27). Challenges in moving toward a more inclusive democracy: Findings from the 2022 American Values Survey.

  <a href="https://www.prri.org/research/challenges-in-moving-toward-a-more-inclusive-democracy-findings-from-the-2022-american-values-survey/">https://www.prri.org/research/challenges-in-moving-toward-a-more-inclusive-democracy-findings-from-the-2022-american-values-survey/</a>
- Rabinowitz, F. E. Counseling men in groups. (2014). In Englar-Carlson, M., Evans, M.P., & Duffey, T., (Eds.), *A Counselor's guide to working with men*. (pp. 55-70). American Counseling Association.
- Reeves, R. (2024). Of boys and men: Why the modern male is struggling, why it matters, and what to do about it. Brookings Institute.
- Reeves, R. & Secker, W. (2023, November 17). Male suicide: Patterns and recent trends.

  American Institute for Boys and Men. <a href="https://aibm.org/research/male-suicide/">https://aibm.org/research/male-suicide/</a>
- Reilly, E. D., Rochlen, A. B., & Awad, G. H. (2014). Men's self-compassion and self-esteem:

  The moderating roles of shame and masculine norm adherence. *Psychology of Men and Masculinity*, *15*(1), 22–28. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1037/a0031028">https://doi.org/10.1037/a0031028</a>
- Risner, D. (2007). Rehearsing masculinity: Challenging the "boy code" in dance education.

  \*Research in Dance Education, 8(2), 139–153.
- Ritter, M., & Low, K. G. (1996). Effects of dance/movement therapy: A meta-analysis. *The Arts in Psychotherapy*, 23(3), 249–260. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/0197-4556(96)00027-5">https://doi.org/10.1016/0197-4556(96)00027-5</a>

Robertson, J. M. (2014). Counseling older men. In Englar-Carlson, M., Evans, M.P., & Duffey, T., (Eds.), *A Counselor's guide to working with men*. (pp. 159-178). American Counseling Association.

- Sandel, S. L. (1993). The process of empathic reflection in dance therapy. In Chace, M., Sandel,
  S. L., Chaiklin, S., & Lohn, A. (Eds.), Foundations of dance/movement therapy: The life
  and work of Marian Chace. (pp. 98-111). Marian Chace Memorial Fund of the American
  Dance Therapy Association.
- Sarkar, A. R. (2021, October 19). Madison Cawthorn calls for mothers to raise "monster" men in terrifying speech against "demasculation." *Independent*.

  <a href="https://www.independent.co.uk/news/world/americas/us-politics/north-carolina-madison-cawthorn-masculinity-b1940849.html">https://www.independent.co.uk/news/world/americas/us-politics/north-carolina-madison-cawthorn-masculinity-b1940849.html</a>
- Schoop, T. (2000). Motion and emotion. American Journal of Dance Therapy, 22(2), 91-101.
- Schoop, T. & Mitchell, P. (1986). Reflections and projections: The Schoop approach to dance therapy. In Lewis, P. (Ed.), *Theoretical approaches in dance-movement therapy*. (pp. 37-60). Kendall/Hunt Publishing Company.
- Shen-Miller, D. S., Isacco, A., Davies, J. A., St. Jean, M., & Phan, J. L. (2013). The Men's Center approach: Ecological interventions for college men's health. *Journal of Counseling & Development*, 91(4), 499–507. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1002/j.1556-6676.2013.00123.x">https://doi.org/10.1002/j.1556-6676.2013.00123.x</a>
- Shepard, D. S., & Rabinowitz, F. E. (2013). The power of shame in men who are depressed:

  Implications for counselors. *Journal of Counseling & Development*, 91(4), 451–457.

  https://doi.org/10.1002/j.1556-6676.2013.00117.x

Sileo, K. M., & Kershaw, T. S. (2020). Dimensions of masculine norms, depression, and mental health service utilization: Results from a prospective cohort study among emerging adult men in the United States. *American Journal of Men's Health*, *14*(1). https://doi.org/10.1177/1557988320906980

- Strokoff, J., Halford, T.C. & Owen, J. Men and psychotherapy. (2016). In Wong, Y. J., Wester, S. R., & American Psychological Association (Eds.), *APA Handbook of Men and Masculinities* (First, Ser. APA handbooks in psychology series). (pp. 753-774). American Psychological Association.
- Thompson, E. H., & Bennett, K. M. (2015). Measurement of masculinity ideologies: A (critical) review. *Psychology of Men and Masculinity*, *16*(2), 115–133. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0038609
- Thompson, E. H., & Pleck, J. H. (1986, May/June). The structure of male role norms. *The American Behavioral Scientist* (1986-1994), 29(5), 531.
- Trump, D. (2016, October 8). Transcript: Donald Trump's taped comments about women. *The New York Times*. <a href="https://www.nytimes.com/2016/10/08/us/donald-trump-tape-transcript.html">https://www.nytimes.com/2016/10/08/us/donald-trump-tape-transcript.html</a>
- Vandello, J. A., Wilkerson, M., Bosson, J. K., Wiernik, B. M., & Kosakowska-Berezecka, N. (2023). Precarious manhood and men's physical health around the world. *Psychology of Men & Masculinities*, 24(1), 1–15. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1037/men0000407">https://doi.org/10.1037/men0000407</a>
- Vescio, T. K., & Schermerhorn, N. E. C. (2021). Hegemonic masculinity predicts 2016 and 2020 voting and candidate evaluations. *PNAS Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 118(2), 1–10.

https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2020589118

Vulcan, M. (2009). Is there any body out there? A survey of literature on somatic countertransference and its significance for DMT. *The Arts in Psychotherapy*, *36*(5), 275–281. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aip.2009.06.002">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aip.2009.06.002</a>

- Vallie, S. (2022, November 11). What is toxic masculinity? WebMD.

  <a href="https://www.webmd.com/sex-relationships/what-is-toxic-masculinity">https://www.webmd.com/sex-relationships/what-is-toxic-masculinity</a>
- Vogel, D. L. & Heath, P. J. (2016). Men, masculinities, and help-seeking patterns. In Wong, Y.
   J., Wester, S.R., & American Psychological Association (Eds.), APA Handbook of Men and Masculinities (First, Ser. APA handbooks in psychology series). (pp. 685-707).
   American Psychological Association.
- Wasylkiw, L., & Clairo, J. (2018). Help seeking in men: When masculinity and self-compassion collide. *Psychology of Men and Masculinity*, 19(2), 234–242. https://doi.org/10.1037/men0000086
- Weir, K. (2023, April 1). What is interoception, and how does it affect mental health? 5 questions for April Smith. *Monitor on Psychology, 54*(3).

  <a href="https://www.apa.org/monitor/2023/04/sensations-eating-disorders-suicidal-behavior#:~:text=Interoception%20is%20the%20ability%20to,as%20well%20as%20emotion%20sensations">https://www.apa.org/monitor/2023/04/sensations-eating-disorders-suicidal-behavior#:~:text=Interoception%20is%20the%20ability%20to,as%20well%20as%20emotion%20sensations.</a>
- Willingham, A. (2022, September 8). Misogynistic influencers are trending right now: Defusing their message is a complex task. <a href="https://www.cnn.com/2022/09/08/us/andrew-tate-manosphere-misogyny-solutions-cec/index.html">https://www.cnn.com/2022/09/08/us/andrew-tate-manosphere-misogyny-solutions-cec/index.html</a>
- Wolfe, G., & Levant, R. F. (2020). Treating masculinity: A commentary on the hybrid case study of "Tommy." *Pragmatic Case Studies in Psychotherapy*, *16*(3), 320–329. https://doi.org/10.14713/pcsp.v16i3.2080

Wong, Y. J., Horn, A. J., Gomory, A. M. G., & Ramos, E. (2013). Measure of Men's Perceived Inexpressiveness Norms (M2PIN): Scale development and psychometric properties. *Psychology of Men & Masculinity*, 14(3), 288–299. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0029244

Yalom, I. D., & Leszcz, M. (2020). *The theory and practice of group psychotherapy* (6th ed.). Basic Books.